An examination of the relationships of liaison librarians and academic departments, based upon the experiences of librarians at a New Zealand academic institution

by

Bevan John Shortridge

Submitted to the School of Information Management,
Victoria University of Wellington
in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Library and Information Studies

June 2008

VICTORIA UNIVERSITY OF WELLINGTON School of Information Management

Master of Library & Information Studies

IMPORTANT DISCLAIMER

with respect to a MLIS Research Project (INFO 580)

An examination of the relationships of liaison librarians and academic departments, based upon the experiences of librarians at a New Zealand academic institution

(hereafter referred to as 'The MLIS Research Project')

being undertaken by

Bevan John Shortridge

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of
Master of Library and Information Studies,
School of and Information Management, Victoria University of Wellington.

Topic Commencement: June 2008

- 1. Victoria University of Wellington and its Council, its members, staff, employees, students and agents undertake no duty of care in contract, tort, or otherwise, to users (whether direct or indirect) of the MLIS Research Project and make no warranties or representations of any kind whatsoever in relation to any of its contents.
- The MLIS Research Project is only made available on the basis that all users of it, whether
 direct or indirect, must take appropriate legal or other expert advice in relation to their own
 circumstances and must rely solely on their own judgement and such legal or other expert
 advice.
- 3. Under no circumstances will Victoria University of Wellington and its Council, its members, staff, employees, students or agents be liable in any way whatsoever, whether in contract, tort (including negligence), for breach of any statutory or regulatory duty (to the fullest extent permissible by law), or otherwise, to any user (whether direct or indirect) of the MLIS Research Project for any loss or damage whatsoever arising directly or indirectly as a result of the use in any way of the MLIS Research Project.
 - 4. Each exclusion in the clauses of this disclaimer and each protection given by it is to be construed as a separate exclusion applying and surviving even if for any reason any of the exclusions or protections are held inapplicable in any circumstance.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Lynley Stone, for her support, advice and encouragement through this project.

I would like to particularly thank the twelve liaison librarians at the academic institution where I made my study, for their generosity in making themselves available for the project. I also thank the librarian who was the subject of the pilot study.

I would like to take the opportunity at this time to express my appreciation to those who have helped me through the degree. I thank my manager and colleagues, past and present and too numerous to name individually, for their encouragement, interest in my various projects, and their willingness to act as sounding boards on more than one occasion.

My thanks, as well, to the several past and present administrative staff of the School of Information Management at Victoria University that I have had correspondence with. The assistance given to me in a variety of matters has been extremely valuable and is deserving of special acknowledgement.

Dedicated to my parents, Gwenyth and the late Rolf Shortridge.

Contents	Page
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Problem Statement	1
1.2 Research Questions	3
2. Theoretical Framework	6
3. Literature Review	9
4. Research Methodology	19
4.1 The Paradigm	19
4.1.1 Paradigm Choice	19
4.1.2 Ontology	19
4.1.3 Epistemology	20
4.2 Research Population	23
4.3 Definitions	25
4.4 Delimitations	25
4.5 Limitations	26
4.6 Interview	26
4.7 Document Examination	28
4.8 Pilot Study	29
5. Data Analysis Techniques	30
5.1 Coding	30
5.1.1 Open Coding	30
5.1.2 Axial Coding	32
5.2 Constant Comparison Method	33

6. Liaison Techniques	34
6.1 Use of Email	34
6.2 Newsletters	39
6.3 Course Web Pages	41
6.4 Teaching Sessions and Information Literacy	49
6.5 Departmental Visits	53
6.6 Interaction with Administration Personnel	59
6.7 Library Systems and Processes	61
6.8 Political Aspects of Academic Departments and Libraries	66
6.9 Conclusion	68
7. Bibliography	72
8. Appendices	76
8.1 Information Sheets	76
8.1.1 Information Sheets - for Library Managers	76
8.1.2 Information Sheets – for Liaison Librarians	77
8.2 Consent Form – for Liaison Librarians	78
8.3 Interview Schedule	79

Abstract

The objective of this research was to examine how liaison librarians interacted with their academic departments, and what factors impacted on their interaction. Interviews were conducted with twelve liaison librarians at an academic institution and documents such as web pages were examined.

Among the techniques employed by liaison librarians were emails, newsletters, creation of course resource web pages, provision of teaching sessions and personal visits to departments. Librarians concentrated on different techniques in response to perceptions of what worked for the academic department.

As librarians became established in their role they needed to balance the need to liaise with the significant time commitment involved in the delivery of the service.

Liaison librarians regarded personal contact as extremely important to establishing and maintaining relationships. This could be difficult the further the liaison librarian was physically located from a department.

Some librarians saw the standardization of procedures across the library system offered a barrier to the personal service they offered to academics.

The small sample interviewed cannot be regarded as being applicable to all liaison

librarians in all academic institutions. However, the study is a beginning point, and

further research in this neglected area is needed.

Keywords: academic departments, liaison librarian, liaison techniques

1. Introduction

1.1 Problem Statement

A person who works in the role of liaison librarian in an academic institution attempts to build and maintain a relationship with their assigned academic department. The building of the relationship has been the topic of considerable work in library and information studies. The "what" is often discussed – tools and techniques librarians can employ to build and maintain a relationship. Other work is directed toward examining the experience and attitudes of academics towards libraries and librarians. However, the actual experience of the liaison librarians is not widely covered in the literature. The "how" and "why" certain liaison activities might be undertaken or not undertaken are discussed much less.

The liaison's experience of an academic department might be presumed to affect how they undertake liaison actions, but there is little evidence for any in-depth examination of their experience beyond the occasional anecdote. The liaison librarian's first hand experience of the culture of an academic department and the move toward electronic delivery of services and material are worth examining. In an increasingly electronic age, the question of the physical location of a librarian might or might not have an impact on liaison. A study might detect whether there is a noticeable difference in the experiences of liaison librarians located in a centralised library compared with those based in libraries housed in or very near academic departments. Librarians who have been involved in

liaison in both locales may provide particular insight into the perceived benefits or barriers for liaison in the different locations.

There has been concern expressed over the provision of so much electronic material and the advent of internet searching bringing vast stores of information to user's desktops. The concern is that this direct access threatens librarians with obsolescence, bypassing them. It must be asked whether this has had such an impact on liaison librarians, arguably the most involved with academics using the resources. Might the internet instead have provided new avenues for the librarian to liaise? An examination of the sensitive subject of university politics might also impact on the relationship. This could involve the librarian's experience of politics within an academic department, manifested in competing demands for resources. Liaison librarians might also be affected by politics within the library organisation itself, if different library sections compete for the attention of academics. Occasional anecdotes may often be found or uncovered in casual conversation with liaison librarians about all of the above issues. A more concentrated investigation is needed to determine the extent to which these touch upon the liaison relationship.

Any investigation that is undertaken in this project will necessarily be only a brief examination of a small sampling of liaison librarians in an institution. However, it will provide some groundwork for a more extensive study, helping to determine the parameters of the liaison experience. The intent of this study is to closely examine the

experience of librarians engaged in liaison with academic departments, and determine what factors impact upon the relationship?
1.2 Research Questions
A. Techniques of Liaison
A.1. Why do librarians use particular techniques in their relations with academic departments?
A.2. Why might particular techniques have been used and discarded?
A.3 How has the increasing electronic availability of material affected the liaison relationship?
B. Political Aspects
B.1 In what ways do the politics of an academic department impact the liaison librarian?
B.2 In what ways do other parts of the library system impact on the relationship?

C. Location

C.1 To what extent do liaison librarians based in centralised locations differ in
opportunities for liaison from librarians in dispersed locations?
C. 2 To what extent does inperson contact with academics affect the relationship?
C.3 To what extent does using only email and phone contact affect the relationship?
D. Opportunities
D.1 What is the effect on the liaison experience of inclusion in, or exclusion from,
academic department email discussion lists?
D.2 Has there been any effect on the liaison relationship of the introduction of the
Performance Based Research Funding (PBRF) model into the tertiary sector?
D.3 What is the impact of library-created course resource web pages on liaison?
D.4 What scope is there for the involvement of liaison librarians in information literacy
in academic departments?

E. Barriers

E.1 Do librarians perceive any barriers to liaison activities from the academic department?

E.2 Do librarians perceive any barriers to liaison activities from the library?

2. Theoretical Framework

An in-depth exploration of the experiences of liaison librarians was intended to provide a basis for some examination and evaluation of the attitudes and encounters of the librarians as they build and maintain their relationship with academic departments.

The purpose of the investigation of the research topic also helped in the determination of choice of theoretical framework. To examine the experiences of the liaison librarian in terms of their relationships with academics, it was necessary to obtain a rich, descriptive account of that relationship from the librarian's perspective to be analyzed. As an example, the intent of the project was less to determine, for example, how many liaison librarians may make regular visits to their departments, or how many visits are made. Instead the intent was to understand why the librarian would visit – or perhaps would not visit - the academic department they were assigned to. What lead the librarian to make that choice? In doing so, the researcher eschewed a more specific perspective. There was caution at the beginning stage about adopting a more prescriptive framework that might limit the scope for understanding data.

Aspects of customer relationship management theory that have relevance to services (such as liaison librarians) argued for study through a qualitative framework. In recent years there has been a conscious move in management theory away from transaction-oriented marketing, which emphasised quantification as a measurement of success (for example, how much was sold). Instead there has been argument for a more qualitative approach, where the aim is to build and maintain a long term strategy in customer

relationship management, concentrating on customers rather than transactions. This move away from concentrating on the transaction added a human element as an important dimension. The argument is that the often intangible work put in by personnel to build customer relationships proves cost-effective in the long term, more so than the expenditure involved in attracting new customers. The possibility of encouraging return custom is argued to contribute toward obtaining greater market share (Armstrong & Kotler, 2007; Gronroos, 1997).

The theory of increasing market share by building relations to encourage use of services and retention of custom can be transferred quite easily to the work of liaison librarians with academic departments. Librarians are involved in marketing their services and the resources of the library to academics. The idea that building relations through value enhanced services can edge out competitors had a direct relevance to concerns over search strategies finding information that has not been properly organized or filtered (for example, someone who uses internet search engines instead of subscribed databases to locate articles). A librarian relationship with an academic can work to embed the librarian (and the library) as an essential service. This could have an impact on the perceived usefulness of the Library itself. Researchers on customer relations management stress that all employee contact with customers works to build a positive or negative image of the organization. This has importance for the contact of liaison librarians with academic departments where they are, in effect, marketing the Library in each interaction with their target group of users (Christopher, Payne, & Ballantyne, 2004; Wikstrom & Isomaki, 2007).

As well as encouraging retention, management theory also argues for identification of clientele where a relationship should not be pursued. It is argued that a poor relationship effectively does more harm to an organization than if a relationship was not pursued at all. A failure to follow up promised services with their actual delivery (or unsatisfactory delivery) contributes to a negative perception overall (Bitner, 1995; Colgate & Danaher, 2000). By this argument it is qualitative research that determines whether a relationship should be pursued, with the gauging of potential for success or failure of a relationship undertaken by people and not through the measurement of the immediate value of transactions (Gummesson, 2006; Wikstrom & Isomaki, 2007).

3. Literature Review

Introduction

Library science literature has devoted considerable space to the liaison librarian role and sheds some light on the question of how to build and maintain relations with academics. The literature has involved discussion about means for establishing liaison programs, reporting case studies on what has worked in a particular library. The evaluation of such programs is also a major topic. There are also arguments over the relevance of specialized liaisons in a multidisciplinary tertiary education environment. A number of themes are recurrent in the literature. These include the perception of a distance between librarians and academics and the impact on the liaison librarian. The concern that libraries, and the liaisons, might be becoming increasingly irrelevant in a world where so much information is now electronic and searchable by the end user is also an important theme. Concern over distance and continued relevance leads to the theme of pushing librarian involvement in matters such as curriculum. The liaison is viewed to be in a prime position to initiate and collaborate with academics on this undertaking. However, despite the material that touches at least in part on the liaison role, there is room for growth in the literature. Areas that have yet to be explored include the impact on the liaison of other library departments and their interactions with faculty. The differing natures and cultures of a given academic department, and how that impacts on the liaison role, have only been lightly touched on. In addition, due perhaps to its relatively recent development, little or no attention has been given to any possible effects of newer University funding models.

Time and Effort

A common theme of many of the studies is the emphasis on the time and effort required to develop a relationship with academic departments. This is linked to the need for the liaison to spend some considerable time outside their library office and in the academic department. This serves to make themselves known to the academic department and to make their services known and available to faculty. Studies evaluating liaison programs emphasize that library management need to be made aware of the time dedication involved in building the relationships (Tobin Cataldo, Tennant, Sherwill-Navarro, & Jesano, 2006; Tucker & Torrence, 2004).

The liaison librarian themselves also needed to be aware of the time that was needed to be devoted toward building the relationship with the department by getting to know the academics on a personal level. It was stated that a librarian might well need to sit down with each academic to receive a better idea of their needs, as well as putting a personal presence in the faculty's relations with the library (Frank, Raschke, Wood, & Yang, 2001; Jenkins, 2005; Stoddart, Bryant, Baker, Lee, & Spencer, 2006). Building a successful relationship with academics is seen as both time-consuming but necessary in itself, but can also lead to more and more pressure on a liaison librarian's time management as they may be increasingly called upon to provide support for the academics by giving class instruction or research consultations (Stoddart et al., 2006).

Coupled with this is the need for the liaison to keep updated on departmental occurrences, through attendance at seminars and perusing departmental web pages, or joining subject specialist email discussion lists (Macaluso & Petruzzelli, 2005; Stoddart et al., 2006). Interestingly, membership of the academic email discussion lists was primarily discussed as a means for the liaison to communicate with the academic department about new resources or to hear about concerns or problems with library material (Glynn & Wu, 2003; Izbicki, 2000; Stoddart et al., 2006; Tobin Cataldo et al., 2006). The full potential for email discussion lists to keep the liaison informed about the department was not discussed. Membership may not just be a vehicle for communication about library resources and changes. The liaison may also learn via the discussion list of the appointment of new faculty, who they may then approach. They may also be kept in touch with departmental seminars that they could attend. It is noted that academic departments can be quite cautious about list membership (Glynn & Wu, 2003). Perhaps also worthy of study is the impact on the relationship with the department if the liaison does not have membership of such a list. Despite the emphasis on electronic communication it is claimed that personal visits to departments have considerable value (Del Bosque & Chapman, 2007; Pinfield, 2001). However, this might depend on the culture of the department. In addition, demands on space could also determine whether a liaison could have a physical space in a department.

Concern over "traditional role"

The literature concerning the liaison librarian role establishes that the traditional role of the liaison librarian and their relationship with academic departments has been centred on the area of collection development. This is a major part of the American Library Association's liaison guidelines (2007). Librarians in a liaison role need to work with academics to determine the best resources to be ordered and tap into their subject specialized knowledge (Jenkins, 2005; Qobose, 2000; Stoddart et al., 2006). In many ways collection development may be the primary relationship academics may have with the library. Some point out that the traditional role is changing. The growth in interdisciplinary approaches among academic departments can change the nature of collection development in terms of what areas a liaison should be collecting. The liaison might become involved in ordering for areas that were never catered for previously, or impact on the work of another liaison (Frank et al., 2001; Glynn & Wu, 2003).

There are questions whether librarians based on subject specialization, of which liaison is a key component, are valid in view of an increasing interdisciplinary academic approach (Biddiscombe, 2002). Tied with this is compartmentalization within a library system. If a liaison librarian is not the only contact academics may have with a library, how does this impact the liaison role? The liaison could be bypassed entirely during interactions with academics. A possible area to study is whether this happens to a greater degree in a centralized library than in a more compact divisional library.

The need to market other aspects of the liaison role beyond that of collection development emerges as a theme. The literature consists of many studies of best practice, or "how to" manuals: how to establish a liaison program; evaluate a liaison program; contact academic departments; and how to engage with individual academics (Izbicki, 2000; Jenkins, 2005; Macaluso & Petruzzelli, 2005; Stoddart et al., 2006). Several consider individual achievements in terms of outreach, such as developing web pages for courses, or introducing new academics to library resources (Del Bosque & Chapman, 2007; Isaacson, 2001; Sugarman & Demetracopoulos, 2001). These are attempts to become involved with academics in ways beyond the ordering of material.

There is concern among liaison librarians that despite attempts to become involved with their academic departments, and the time devoted to publicize their skills, the traditional role of collection development is still seen by academics as the main or only function to be fulfilled by the role of liaison librarian. A recurrent result of surveys gauging responses to liaison programs was that academics thought of liaisons in terms of their collection development role (Chu, 1997; Tennant, Tobin Cataldo, Sherwill-Navarro, & Jesano, 2006; Yang, 2000). Often the academics seemed to be quite unaware that the liaison librarians may have been able to perform other functions. Some writers concluded that academics would not think to approach librarians for research assistance, or, if they did, it would be as a last resort (Frank et al., 2001; Yang, 2000). Although the literature acknowledges the importance of the collection development role of the liaison librarian, this is coupled with concern over the lack of perception on the part of academics of other possibilities for the involvement of the liaison.

Disconnectedness

The concern over the perception of academics that liaisons are mainly collection development personnel relates to the theme of a distance between academics and librarians. Supported by survey results academics are perceived to have a "disconnection" with librarians over the functions and potential functions of their role and what they could offer (Christiansen, Stombler, & Thaxton, 2004; Donham & Green, 2004; Frank et al., 2001). Christiansen (2004) noted that concern over this disconnectedness ran strongly through library science literature but was not addressed much, if at all, in other social science literature. This observation highlights the gap between the two groups on this matter. One group (the librarians) perceives that there is a problem, and writes about finding ways to solve it, while the other group (the academics) does not think that there is a problem, much less writes about it.

Measuring levels of disconnect was thought difficult if not impossible to do. One study pointed out that librarians could take many surveys to evaluate the relationship with academics, but there was strong suggestion that academics who had good relations with the library would respond positively to any library surveys they were presented with, and that academics who did not enjoy good relations would not respond at all (Kotter, 1999). This puts a different slant on positive results reported in articles where surveys seemed to show positive responses from academics.

This disconnectedness is seen to have been exacerbated by the increasing availability of electronic material that academics can access from their desktops. If information can be electronically accessed without the need for the academic to either visit a physical library, or for a librarian to act as the mediator for searching, then the question is asked, what part is a liaison expected to play? It has been argued that the increase in electronic material and end user searching, together with increasing compartmentalization of library departments negates the need for a liaison (Biddiscombe, 2002). Librarians have been so successful in obtaining electronic resources they are bypassed in terms of information seeking so need to develop other methods of interacting to maintain relevance (Biddiscombe, 2002; Frank et al., 2001).

Expanded Roles

The theme of disconnectedness between academics and liaisons, and the library in general, is viewed as a challenge for libraries. There is a perception that the library needs to reduce disconnectedness as a matter of survival, and liaisons need to demonstrate ongoing relevance to academics to obtain their support (Frank et al., 2001; Kotter, 1999). The liaison role is seen as being a position that can best demonstrate relevance. In particular the liaisons needed to expand their role to different areas of cooperation with academic departments, taking on more of a consulting role (Frank et al., 2001; Miller & Pellen, 2004). Although perhaps too early to see discussion in the literature, it would be interesting to gauge impacts of new models of tertiary funding. Perhaps there is a basis for arguing that an unexpected outcome of the Performance Based Research Funding

(PBRF) rounds is that academics engage with liaison librarians to assist in compiling their Evidence Portfolios. Liaisons may have also been approached to help academics better understand the journal impact factor. This may bear further study. Certainly, some liaison teams have responded to the PBRF model by marketing their potential to assist academic departments.

The implementation of information literacy programs in academic curriculums is seen as an opportunity for liaisons to collaborate with academics in a teaching capacity. (Hardy & Corrall, 2007; Winner, 1998) There is a perception that liaisons must build their relationship with academics to the level where they can push for inclusion in such programs (Lindstrom & Shonrock, 2006; Winner, 1998; Yang, 2000; Zhang, 2001). This goes beyond some more traditional roles in bibliographic instruction to instilling critical thinking when students use resources. It is believed that liaisons can ensure their importance for academic departments by doing so. For some authors the motivation for retaining liaison programs is for the library to become involved with teaching via that role. The eventual aim would seem to be that collaboration with academics in teaching would lead to the involvement of the liaison with curriculum development. This is assumed in library science literature to be a natural progression of the liaison relationship (Lindstrom & Shonrock, 2006; Winner, 1998). However, the attitudes of academics toward this intent of the liaison to have input into curriculum matters do not seem to have been discussed. This is perhaps somewhat surprising given the parallel theme of the perceived disconnection between librarians and academics. Also of interest is the activity of other parts of the library in terms of information literacy. If a library has a separate teaching section, how might that interact with academic departments? Are the liaisons involved in any communication that does take place? As with other sections in the library system, liaisons may have growing competition for their relationship with academics from other librarians.

Conclusion

Literature on the liaison model and liaison relations with academic departments consists of case studies and best practice models of implementation and evaluation. There are also arguments for the need to change the liaison model from a concentration on collection development toward more inclusion in curriculum. Themes include the time and effort required for the relationship. A perceived distance between liaison and academics, particularly with the availability of electronic resources, is of concern to writers. It is thought that the direct involvement of liaisons in information literacy programs will remedy this. There remains scope for research into other aspects of the relationship of liaison and academic department. There are some issues that may yet be too early and too sensitive for study in the literature. An interesting question is the impact of the introduction of the PBRF model into universities in different countries, including New Zealand. With the need for academics and departments to understand journal impact factors and to provide copies of their work as part of this process, has this necessity had an impact on the relationship with the liaison librarians? Given the reluctance noted in the literature for academics to ask librarians for assistance, has this new model changed that? Another matter worthy of study is the impact on the liaison librarian-faculty relationship

of other parts of a library system. This is, of course, a sensitive area for exploration, which is why it may have received little mention. If a library increasingly compartmentalizes its services, how does this affect the liaison librarian model if they can be bypassed? Is the liaison librarian involved in the communication of the other library sections with academic departments? If not, what happens? The literature emphasizes the advent of electronic communication and that physical location of the library is less important to the liaison relationship. Is there, then, noticeable differences in the relationship of liaisons based in a centralized library and those liaisons based in a divisional library that are presumably closer in physical proximity? Frank (2001) and Biddiscombe (2002) argued that as departments became more interdisciplinary and cooperated more with other academic departments that appointing a librarian to liaise with one particular department was no longer relevant. Could this be shown to be an accurate prediction in recent years, or has the interdisciplinary nature of some academic departments encouraged cooperation with the academic library as another department? These aspects are worthy of future research, although the limits of the present study mean only some of them may be addressed.

4. Research Methodology

4.1 The Paradigm

4.1.1 Paradigm Choice

A qualitative method is preferred as means to understand the librarian's experiences. Time constraints prevent the consideration of the research as a case study or ethnographic study, but the methodology used in those forms of research may be utilized for the proposed topic. Aspects of marketing theory inform the paradigm to be employed.

4.1.2 Ontology

Although there has been work on the liaison librarian-academic relationship, there has not been much written on why researchers have chosen a particular approach. Discussion of theory is largely absent from the literature of library liaison. The form of research proposed in this project lends itself to working within a interpretivist paradigm, rather than a positivist or postpositivist paradigm. The research intends to develop an understanding of how the liaison librarian relationship may be built and maintained, from the perspective of the liaison librarian. This will involve an interpretation of the experiences of liaison librarians who are involved in such relationships. Such an approach cannot assume that the experience of the liaison librarians will be the same from person to person. The reality of one liaison librarian may differ from the reality of another liaison librarian.

The intent to examine the construct of reality from the liaison librarian's perspective, and the potential for multiple realities to emerge as a result, is an important aspect of a qualitative approach to research (Pickard, 2007). It is argued that the individual's experience of reality and perception of meanings within that reality is unique to the individual and should not be ignored in research (Gephart, 1999; Krauss, 2005; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In contrast, the positivist, and to some extent the postpositivist, researcher, perceives the existence of a single tangible reality that can be studied, measured, and quantified to explain what is happening. The differences that may occur between the experience and perception of the individual is not of concern to the positivist, although more so to the postpositivist researcher. In a real way the human element is removed from positivist conceptions of reality (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Pickard, 2007).

4.1.3 Epistemology

The nature of obtaining knowledge of the liaison librarian relationship with academics lent itself to the use of a qualitative paradigm. The positivist or scientific method tests hypotheses derived from theory. The theory and hypotheses are predetermined, developed before research is undertaken. Given the argument that there is one reality to be experienced under the positivist paradigm, a hypothesis is then a matter of verification for the researcher – or falsification for the postpositivist (Lincoln & Guba, 2000; Pickard, 2007). The importance for understanding in positivist research is objectivity. It is intended that this removes the possibility for bias or for the researcher to influence (or be influenced by) the subjects of inquiry (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, 2000).

The nature of knowing is argued to be different when a human element is involved, such as examining the experiences of people. Lincoln and Guba (1985) argued that investigations using a positivist perspective ignored context and the "humanness" of respondents in the research that was produced (p. 27). Humans differ as research material from other objects that might be studied as humans tend to interpret themselves and present this to a researcher through actions and words. It is these actions and words that researchers must interpret through analysis to build understanding of meaning (Balnaves & Caputi, 2001). The qualitative researcher is a participant in the research, interacting with human subjects in an attempt to improve their understanding of the subject's experience (Leedy & Ormrod, 2004). This brings concerns of trustworthiness and reliability, as the researcher becomes involved in the study. The employment of different methods to collect data will give more basis for context and background to the relationship, and build a better picture from the analysis of different data sets that is intended to offset potential bias.

Although the research topic resembled a form of ethnographic study, its parameters argue against such a study being attempted. Ethnographies examine a culture in its entirety (Pickard, 2007). With the liaison librarian, the performance of liaison duties may form only one part of a librarian's position. It is the relationship with academic departments that was of concern for the topic, and less attention paid to other aspects of the role of the personnel who are engaged in liaison.

The nature of the relationship of a liaison librarian with academic departments is

dependent on factors that were not easily quantified, if at all. The research topic required an examination of the context of the librarian relationship with academics and the meanings attributed to the relationship by the librarians involved.

The researcher adopted some of the methods employed in ethnographic research and case study to investigate the research problem. Case studies are reported to be done over the course of a year, and ethnographic reports can take many years to prepare, both of which are outside the timeframe permitted (Creswell, 1998; Pickard, 2007). At best only a limited study was able to be made.

The tools employed by case studies and ethnography proved useful as the researcher investigated the experience of liaison librarians. The use of semi-structured interviews, and an examination of relevant documents was intended to obtain a rich description of the relationship with academics to be analyzed. Purposive sampling was part of the methodology. The research question made clear that the researcher intended to examine the experience of liaison librarians. As a result the population that may be studied is limited to those librarians engaged in liaison activities with academic departments. The identification of a particular population to be the subject of study fit with the use of purposive sampling, where only specific personnel are to be utilized (Patton, 1990).

Interviewing was reliant upon access being granted for this to be undertaken. For interviewing in particular a rapport needed to be built between the interviewer and respondent (Creswell, 1998; Wilson & Sapsford, 2006). The researcher had worked in a position assisting librarians involved with liaison for several years, and had come into

contact with other librarians engaged in liaison activity during that time. There was something of a basic understanding for the researcher about the type of interactions liaison librarians had with academics, which could be applied regardless of the academic institution chosen for the study. At the same time the researcher had to recognize the potential for bias given any pre-existing perceptions they might have had about the role of the liaison librarian. The researcher needed to ensure that their interpretation was not coloured by such perceptions that they had about the intended subjects of the study.

4.2 Research Population

The Library system studied had several advantages for the purpose of studying the liaison librarian relationship with academic departments. The Library system served a substantial population of full time equivalent students and academic and general staff members with a centralised library and decentralised libraries. The decentralised libraries are located in close proximity to the relevant academic departments. Among the library staff there are a number of positions in the role of liaison librarian. They are responsible to one or more academic departments. These personnel are specifically engaged in liaison activities as a major part of their job, organized into teams along discipline lines. There was a significant pool of liaison librarians potentially available to be part of the research. There was diversity in the locations of the librarians, with some physically situated in or very near the academic departments and others who are some distance away. The impact of location on the liaison experience is one of the research questions. In the large pool of liaison librarians there is a range in the length of time they have been in their positions. The researcher has worked in close proximity to librarians engaged in liaison activity at

an academic institution and has had opportunities to observe and assist with interactions with academic departments. A purposive selection of librarians was undertaken, selecting those based in different locations or with different populations of academic departments. A sampling of librarians with different lengths of time in their positions was intended to give an overview of the variety in the liaison librarian experience. Human Ethics Committee approval was given from Victoria University for this study.

4.3 Definitions

Term	Definition	
Academic	Any member of the academic teaching and	
	research staff at an academic institution.	
Academic Department	Any unit within an academic institution	
	that is served by a liaison librarian. The	
	unit may be formally called a Department,	
	Laboratory, Programme, or School.	
Centralised Library	Library containing many central services	
	for the academic institution system as a	
	whole, as well as certain liaison librarians.	
Decentralised Library	A library located in or very near an	
	academic department. Such a librarian may	
	contain one or more liaison librarians.	
Liaison	Any activity engaging in interaction with	
	an academic department. This includes	
	queries from the academic department,	
	assistance offered to the department in	
	teaching, web pages, ordering publications,	
	or with other parts of the library system.	
Liaison Librarian	A library staff member who has a primary	
	responsibility for liaison with an academic	
	departments. They may be based in a	
	centralised library or a divisional library. In	
	other institutions this position may be	
	called "Liaison Librarian".	

4.4 Delimitations

The nature of the topic defines the population to be researched – librarians engaged in liaison with academic departments. That there is a finite research population of liaison librarians at the academic institution selected is a natural limit. The researcher acknowledges that the restricted time and length of the study provides its own boundary to the research. Due to the constraints only twelve of the liaison librarians will be interviewed for this study.

4.5 Limitations

The researcher recognises potential weaknesses in the research to be undertaken. The requirements of the qualitative research techniques to be employed mean that only a small sample of the potential population may be engaged with in the time available. The librarians to be studied will necessarily be self-selecting, depending upon the response to a request for interview and observation. The research is limited to a small sampling of liaison librarians in one institution. The specific institution, with its size and disbursement, may have particular facets of experience that may or may not be replicated in smaller institutions.

4.6 Interview

The choice of interview as a method for collecting the data was a good fit for with the topic that was investigated. The recorded and transcribed interviews assisted the researcher in interpreting the experience of the liaison librarian by examining their expression of that experience. From a very practical viewpoint an interview meant that material will be gathered by the researcher in person. If the researcher had not been present at the time the data was gathered there was the real possibility of misunderstandings to occur. This may be compared with other survey methods such as a self-administered questionnaire, where the researcher is absent and is usually reliant upon the respondent to fill in and, for paper questionnaires, to return a survey. For research into faculty attitudes to libraries, questionnaires have been argued to be self-selecting in terms of participation; those who are interested respond. Those who have negative opinions

may discuss them privately, but not in a questionnaire. Such responses skew results (Kotter, 1999). The use of forced choice in questionnaires can also limit expressions of experience.

The interview is a directed conversation, where the researcher attempts to obtain knowledge and understanding from the respondent (Fontana & Frey, 2000). During the course of an interview, different areas may be explored at great depth, in ways that cannot be done through over survey methods such as a self-administered questionnaire (Guba & Lincoln, 1981; Wilson & Sapsford, 2006). Meanings intended can more easily be determined than in questionnaires where the researcher may not be present. Through the interview a respondent can ask the researcher to make any clarifications about questions, and the researcher can ask for clarification about the answers. This is important as the researcher needs to understand the meaning intended by the respondent in their answers, and the meaning the respondent attaches to their experiences (Charmaz, 2006).

The type of interview used was an important consideration. An interview that was heavily structured, with set questions for all respondents, could have placed limitations on answers. The questions set the bounds and the interviewer may be uncomfortable if matters are raised that go beyond such prescriptive boundaries (Guba & Lincoln, 1981; Wilson & Sapsford, 2006). Answers that may benefit from follow-up questions may not be pursued if such that deviates from the interview schedule.

The semi-structured interview was a form that was better suited to the research topic, although its problems had to be noted. The form allowed for a greater amount of flexibility in the exploration of different subjects uncovered during the interview. There was potential for discovery of areas that had not been conceived by the researcher (Guba & Lincoln, 1981). However, although flexibility in questions and answers was an important strength of the semi-structured interview, it could also have been a weakness. There was a need for the interviewer to prevent the respondent from going off on tangents that stray too far from the purpose of the interview. However, this had to be weighed against the need to allow the respondent to answer questions in their own time and at their own pace (Leedy & Ormrod, 2004; Wilson & Sapsford, 2006). Attempts to curtail a respondent's answer could have resulted in a negative reaction from the respondent toward the researcher. If the researcher does not let the interviewer finish a long answer, they might miss out on important detail that could arise at the conclusion of the answer. At times during the interviews the subjects talked at some length about interaction with students. Although the topic under investigation concerned relationships with academics it often happened that interaction with students was tied to the relationship with academics.

4.7 Document Examination

In addition to observation and interview, an examination of private and public documentation may be useful for investigating the relationships to be studied. Documents can help to establish a background for experiences. They can complement interviews by providing a different perspective (Charmaz, 2006). They might give some idea of the

expected parameters for the conduct of the relationship if they include material such as manuals for the liaison positions, job descriptions, and intranet content. Such documentation included web pages designed in conjunction with academics, or web pages designed by liaison librarians specifically for use by academics. Web pages tend to be available for open viewing via the internet. However, for some documents (such as manuals and intranet) the researcher needed to approach the liaison librarian and/or the managers of liaison librarians to obtain permission as well as access to the desired material (Creswell, 1998).

4.8 Pilot Study

To test the interview and document examination techniques to be employed the researcher approached one liaison librarian to be a pilot study. This assisted in the refinement of interview questions and technique, and gave an indication of the time involved for transcription and coding. A pilot study also suggested different areas that were outside the draft code schedule. The schedule was changed at that time to reflect the outcomes of the pilot study.

5. Data Analysis Techniques

The intention of the researcher to obtain data through interviews, and documents suggested particular methods to be used to analyze the data. The result of the examination is to identify thematic elements and relationships between data as a representation of the interaction between liaison librarian and academic department. Although the intent of the project is not to formulate a theory, certain aspects of grounded theory, such as coding and constant comparison methods, were utilized to help the researcher arrange material.

5.1 Coding

5.1.1 Open Coding

Coding allowed themes to emerge from the data as it was being analyzed. It involved the creation of conceptual categories and the organization of data into those categories with assigned properties and even subcategories (Charmaz, 2006; Pickard, 2007; Strauss & Corbin, 1998). Coding meant that analysis of data began early in the research process, and that data could be organized as it was collected. The action of creating codes for the data means that the researcher had to examine the data carefully and study its meaning within its context, such as interview transcript (Miles & Huberman, 1994). The adoption of grounded theory coding involved the researcher reviewing interview transcripts line-by-line, to identify concepts.

There are several ways of building codes. Some proponents of coding argue that codes may be created prior to data being collected, based upon the research questions that were formulated (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Strauss and Glaser, the architects of grounded theory analysis, later differed on how codes should be built. Glaser emphasized the need for the codes emerge from the data and argued that Strauss had begun to force data into predetermined categories (Pickard, 2007). In permitting the codes to emerge from the data as it is being studied, the potential for discovery of more exact, or better, codes may appear. It especially encourages the use of "in vivo" codes, terms used by the respondents themselves, that may be preferred to terms devised by the researcher (Charmaz, 2006; Miles & Huberman, 1994).

Despite the problems noted in predetermining codes, it is noted that beginner researchers might prefer some prior decision on codes to act as some form of organizational structure for the data at the outset of collection (Pickard, 2007). This does not assume that the coding schedule is so rigid that it may not be changed as different concepts emerge in the course of analysis.

The data under analysis may present different concepts, suggesting different categories to the researcher (Pickard, 2007). As the researcher for this topic may be deemed a beginner, a draft coding schedule was appropriate. From the literature review for the topic, the following arose as useful to act categories for open coding:

Open Coding Schedule

The Research Questions outlined for this topic gave a strong indication of aspects of an Open Coding schedule.

Category	Properties
Techniques of Liaison	What have liaison librarians used and possibly
	discarded as a method of liaison
Political Aspects – Academic	Effects on liaison relationship of interdepartmental
	politics in academic department
Political Aspects - Library	Effects on liaison relationship of interdepartmental
	politics in library system
Location	Perceived impact of location of librarian in relation
	to department (centralized versus divisional
	location)
Format	Pertains to change in format of material from print
	to electronic and how this effects the liaison
	relationship
Opportunity	Opportunities perceived by liaison librarians for
	relationship building with department
Barriers	Barriers perceived by librarian to be put up by
	academic department

5.1.2 Axial Coding

Once open codes began to be established, the researcher detected relationships between the categories and properties (or subcategories) to develop axial coding. In the formulation of the axial codes the importance is on examining the conditions for the category, the strategies employed in managing it, its consequences, and its context (Charmaz, 2006; Leedy & Ormrod, 2004). As with open coding the act of axial coding was an ongoing process.

5.2 Constant Comparison Method

A further aspect of grounded theory that was utilized was the application of constant comparative method in analyzing data. In addition to the initial and ongoing construction and refinement of codes, the researcher compared data against each other. Responses given in interviews may be compared with other remarks made in the same interview, as well as with responses made by other interview subjects. In doing so, it was intended that the researcher perceived relationships between the different data sets (Charmaz, 2006). Coding assisted this process as the categories that have been formulated identified material that had been labeled into the same category. The constant comparison method was ongoing through the collection. It required ongoing reflection on the part of the researcher. As the title of the method suggests, the comparison is continuous throughout the data collection. Coding and the constant comparison is usually intended to continue until saturation is reached – that is, when the analysis of data that has been collected no longer results in changes to the coding schedules or provides further insight to the interpretation (Charmaz, 2006). However, the limited period for the project meant that analysis was bound by time constraints before saturation could occur.

6. Liaison Techniques

Both similarities and distinctions between the librarians emerged in the interviews. Some of the liaison techniques that are familiar in the literature that covers the liaison librarian were all generally utilized by the interviewees, but to varying degrees. Others had been tried and abandoned. This variance was dependent on the individual experience of the librarian with their academic department. The techniques for some had changed over time with the move toward automation and email taking the place of printed communication channels and materials. An important aspect for all techniques was the timing of the approach to academics. The librarians acknowledged that academics were busy for much of the year, and for liaison to be successful the librarian had to be aware of when the quieter times were, as there would be more response to offers of teaching sessions or solicitations of book requests.

6.1 Use of Email

Techniques utilized included substantial use of email as a tool of communication, supplemented by phone. Three librarians emailed a list of new items in their designated area that had been received into the library. This email might be to all academics in a particular subject area. Two librarians kept careful track if an item was ordered by an individual academic, and let them know when that item had arrived. Some librarians targeted an email about a new book to specific academics it might be of interest to. New resources or trials of resources such as databases were announced via email. An email that was sent seemed to be particularly successful in reminding the academics about

queries they had for the liaison librarian. A common theme that emerged in five interviews was the ability of an email to obtain replies from academics. The replies received often had very little or nothing at all to with the initial subject of the email the librarian had sent. The reply might be by email or by phone depending on the academic. Receipt of an email from the librarian prompted academics to remember a question they would then ask. This would be replicated for librarians who made visits to the departments. The questions that would be asked varied greatly for one librarian. They remarked that some academics seemed to expect the liaison librarian to know very little about anything, while other academics seemed to believe the librarian had substantial knowledge about subjects well outside the library in the general area of publishing.

For a librarian to email an academic department there were two possibilities. The first approach was for the librarian to maintain their own list of contacts, usually relying on a member of faculty to notify them of changes in staff; one librarian checked a department's web pages for this purpose and hoped that they had been kept up to date. This method relied upon the librarian updating their list of contacts as academics arrived and left. A second approach was for the librarian to obtain membership of an academic department's email discussion list. A librarian might have membership on several lists. This would depend on the department and to some extent its size. A department might have separate lists for academics and postgraduate and doctorate students, or separate lists for different areas within the academic department. Academics and librarians might be members of more than one list or all of them. For the liaison librarian, membership of the lists was perceived to bring both advantages and disadvantages. One librarian on

several email discussion lists commented on the potential to be bombarded with procedural emails, which might be replicated across several lists. This had an effect on the volume of email they received. Any email a librarian sent to such a list would add to the volume of email already being circulated. Because of the number of emails, three librarians perceived that their email could be easily discarded by the academics they were trying to reach. All acknowledged that academics were very busy. Four of the librarians interviewed were not on the email discussion lists of the department. Three belonged to teams in decentralized libraries where the manager of the library was on a list and sent on anything of importance. The librarians who were not on the lists did not see this as problematic, as they trusted the managers to keep them informed of anything relevant. One librarian was glad that, in this way, they avoided being inundated with departmental procedural emails. However, one librarian who was on a list remarked on the importance of the list in keeping them informed about goings on in the academic department. For example, the librarian knew that if emails began to distribute concerning funding rounds that it was not a good time to approach academics about anything as they would be very busy with the submission of applications. The librarian who was interviewed for the pilot study had been denied membership of the academic email discussion list in the past. They did not know why, as the denial was from the head of the academic department, with whom the librarian considered they had a good relationship. The liaison librarian was based in a centralized library, and thought that membership of the list was important for them to keep in touch with the department. A change in department head afforded the opportunity for the librarian to be added to the list membership.

The perception of email volume for a department had an impact on how some librarians chose to distribute information. There would be careful consideration as to whether the information in the email would be of interest to the entirety of the department. If it was not, a variety of avenues for email could be utilized to avoid a global email to all. Three librarians had felt that a direct approach to a department would not be as effective as using an intermediary. This was especially true when the liaison librarian was new in their position and was not known to the academics in the department. It was thought the academics would ignore an email from the librarian they might not know but would read one from a colleague. Several departments had a specific academic designated to work with the liaison librarian. A librarian also often developed relationships with academics in different research areas within a department as a means to communicate with other academics in that area. Those persons acted as the librarian's first point of contact with the academic department if they required feedback on potential databases and journals or had electronic publishers' blurbs to distribute. Emails would be communicated from the librarian to the specific academic or academics. These persons would then forward the email communication on to their research colleagues. In turn the academic would filter responses back to the liaison librarian. In one incidence the academic who liaised with the librarian had to give their approval for book orders.

An academic designated by the department to liaise with the librarian might be employed by the librarian for several tasks. The academic could often be kept informed of budgets, and would approach their colleagues for items to be ordered as required. They would also request feedback on particular products when asked by the librarian, and were often used

as a sounding board by the librarian. Some librarians chose to conduct email communication to the academic department through the designated academic. Such a policy might be thought to be utilized by new librarians whose name would be unfamiliar to their departments. However, the use of the academic as a conduit to the department in terms of email was used by some liaison librarians who had held their position for some period of time. It seemed to relate to the librarian's perception of the standing of the librarian in relation to academic staff. It was felt by newer librarians that as the library email went to academics via another academic that it was more likely to be read and responded to. This denoted a distinction in how academics treated other academics as their equals. It also demonstrated the gradual process a liaison librarian might have to go through to be accepted by the academics. Even those who did consider themselves accepted would also defer to the academic to forward an email on to their colleagues. One librarian found that as time progressed they had more direct email contact with the academics and did not have to approach through an intermediary. The academic appointed to liaise with the librarian was becoming less important as the librarian became better known to the department. The existence of the position of a specific academic to liaise on library matters had been long established between many departments and the library organization in the institution and has been typical in New Zealand universities. However, not all departments have such an official role. Those librarians who do have someone performing this function, and also those that do not, may also utilize several academics unofficially as points of contact within an academic department.

All but two of the twelve liaison librarians involved academics directly in the ordering of material for the library. However, this option was not taken by all. Two librarians in one discipline did not send blurbs to the department by email or other means for historical reasons. One remarked that a predecessor had given over the task of ordering material to academics almost exclusively. The librarian perceived that the result was a collection based primarily on which academics bothered to order, and which did not. The librarian had sought to bring a balance to the collection by taking charge of most of the ordering duties themselves. They considered that they had built up a relationship with the academic department to the point that the academics trusted the librarian's knowledge and judgment, and only occasionally felt compelled to request material. The other ten liaison librarians tended to involve the academics more closely, soliciting requests for material by distributing publishers' blurbs via email or by physically sending print blurbs to specific academics in the department. The results for the liaison librarians were mixed. Two librarians remarked that only occasionally would they receive a book order from academics, regardless of how many blurbs would be sent. Another librarian said the need to send blurbs had lessened as publisher contact with academics became more direct. The librarian was aware that many publishers had automatic alerts set up for academics to directly receive information, bypassing the library entirely. One librarian had set up such alerts for the academics themselves.

6.2 Newsletters

Newsletters provided a point of difference between individual librarians. Some used newsletters as a form of communication but in different formats. One librarian knew of

newsletters that had been tried occasionally but abandoned. They had experience of different colleagues who had initiated an email newsletter to their department quite enthusiastically. However, this enthusiasm had either waned over time as other tasks took their attention, or the particular librarian had left. One way or the other it had gradually been abandoned as a form of communication. Some librarians felt that newsletters could be very time-consuming, involving great effort for little real gain. There were concerns that the newsletter format had to involve a fair amount of detail, and required multiple items to make such a communication worthwhile. It was thought that for a newsletter to be a regular occurrence there might not be enough items of sufficient interest to justify composing it. One librarian linked to an online web page that acted as a newsletter, and then emailed a notification about this to the department. For this librarian and others the newsletters did not seem to be regular occurrences. One librarian remarked that a targeted or general email was more effective than a newsletter, especially if it was only brief. Another librarian used email newsletters but also printed it out and placed the newsletter in some academics' post boxes. It was considered that some academics were not entirely comfortable with email communication, and that paper might provide an alternative to straining eyes on a screen.

Three liaison librarians had worked to include library notices in a newsletter created by the academic department. These newsletters provided an opportunity for the librarians to include library news in an established format that academics might be more likely to read. They believed that academics would be tempted to discard a library newsletter as not being relevant to them, as they would many emails due to the numbers of messages they

received. However, the academics would read the departmental newsletter as a matter of course, as items there might have a direct relevance to them. It was considered to be somewhat less time intensive, compared to putting together an entirely separate newsletter. Several librarians though this was far more effective technique to communicate such items.

6.3 Course Web pages

As liaison librarians differed in their approaches to email and newsletters, the differences became more apparent in the treatment of web pages. Liaison librarians may develop pages for subjects as part of their role, but they could also create web pages for specific academic courses. Not all courses would have library web pages. To some extent this might depend on the capabilities of a particular librarian, although this was less of an issue now than it had been, as the librarians could draw on a variety of other library staff that could assist with the web page development. The major cause for the presence or absence of a course web page tended to be the time commitment involved in putting such a page together. It also depended upon the librarian's interaction with the academic department and their perception of the need for such a page in terms of what the academics would want their students to get from it.

The most common reason for the inception of course web pages was out of an initial approach by the librarian to one or more academics to investigate whether the idea of a course page was viable. Once one course web page had been completed the instigation of

other course pages could take a variety of forms. Several librarians contacted their departments to alert them to the existence of the course page, from which there might be interest from other academics in having the librarian create a similar page for them. More often than this, it seemed, liaison librarians cited examples of where academic staff would contact them about the possibility for a course page as they had been shown them by another academic. Word of mouth between academics seemed to generate a lot of interest, more so than direct approaches by librarians. The endorsement of other academics seemed to rate very highly as the reason for why a librarian might be asked to create more.

Hosting matters could bring their own issues for the liaison librarians. Course web pages could be openly available on the internet, hosted on a library server. However, the page might instead be available on a secure student intranet, in which it was only accessible to staff or students who were engaged for that particular paper. There were advantages and disadvantages for the librarians in both approaches. Hosting the course page on the library website meant that the librarian could retain a degree of ownership over the page. Although a separate section of the library system was responsible for uploading pages to the website, it was the librarian who had control over presentation and content. In addition, a course page on the library website was open to all visitors. Course web pages were seen as a marketing tool for the liaison librarian, as a demonstration of what they could do for academics to tie in with their teaching. The course pages on the open website could also be marketed to other academics. The remarks about word of mouth referrals for web pages indicated this was not a minor consideration. Librarians

sometimes found that academics who did not ask for a specific course web page for themselves, would often refer their students to an existing page for another paper, as the resources there were also of value to their classes. At the same time, depending upon their location of a library website, the pages might not be obvious for students, or academics, to find.

The hosting on the student secure intranet of course web pages created by the librarian also had advantages and disadvantages. One liaison librarian remarked that there were access issues as they needed to be granted editing privileges on the academic department's student intranet. There might be delays experienced in obtaining this access, as this could require liaising with several different persons. Some librarians noted that the intranet software could be difficult to manage, and could be unreliable at times. At the same time, they noted that the intranet update was instantaneous, and changes could be made very quickly.

The content of the web pages was developed by the librarian in conjunction with the academic. This could take several forms. The academic could be quite prescriptive about the content of the page, essentially wanting the web page to replicate much of what could be found in course readings. Librarians were particularly against this, as it was considered to be merely reproducing course content which was the academic department's responsibility. Instead librarians preferred a collaborative approach, where they might supplement resources given by the academics with other resources and general library information. In their experience most academics seemed quite amenable

to library input. Some liaison librarians saw this as a good way to promote a relationship with the academic that might encourage other collaborative ventures. Creating a course resource web page might be considered a first step to gaining an ally in the department who would recognize the librarian's worth and support them. It also maintained contact with academics for the time that the course page was being constructed, with feedback being sought.

There were differences of opinion among the librarians interviewed as to the preferred content of the pages. Many course web pages consisted of required and recommended readings. This could replicate the course listings of a High Demand collection as well as added supplemental material and resources. For many of these pages links were provided by the librarian to catalogue records for printed materials to show the availability of the items. For journal articles listed on the course page the librarian may have gone further and undertaken deep linking. Where this occurred, a click on a link would go directly to the full text of a specific article. Other course pages concentrated on educating the students about how to search for material themselves. The references were not all provided and there were no deep links to specific material.

This contrast highlighted the differences between what librarians felt should be on the pages. To some extent the presence of direct links was a reaction to what the academic wanted. This tendency could be a feature particular to an academic department where student timetables were very prescriptive. In those incidences, it was essential to the academic that the student be given access to certain material. If the liaison librarian was

going to create a page it seemed that it was expected that direct access be provided to connect students with what they needed. The concern of the academic was that the student who went to a course web page created by the librarian was connected quickly to the information with minimal problems. Otherwise some liaison librarians suspected that the academic would bypass them altogether and provide other ways of giving their students that information. One suspected this might already be happening for some resources in response to other library systems practices, which will be discussed later. Generally, the academics who expected direct links to articles seemed less concerned about a need for the students to learn how to access that information for themselves, through their own searching, at least as far as the course page might be concerned. This did not mean that the academics were not aware of such a need, but that the course web page was intended to fulfil a different purpose.

Other librarians had very different approaches as far as the content of the course pages were concerned. Instead of providing direct links to articles, one librarian would provide a list of references on the course page, but only provided a link to the library catalogue, not the direct link to articles and books favoured by their colleagues. The librarian was concerned with the possibility of "spoon feeding" students on behalf of academics, and that course web pages could be counterproductive and contradictory. By this they meant that at the same time a librarian could be in cooperation with an academic to run teaching sessions, to ensure students knew how to locate information, with direct linking on course pages, the librarian would seem to be providing all the information that was required anyway. The concern was that with supplying such information the librarians were not

encouraging students to search for the references themselves, and would be less inclined to learn search techniques. Certain librarians were concerned that with the academic there was the potential to create an expectation of the "spoon feeding" of information. To some extent this was in reaction to the type of discipline being studied. For Arts papers, where there could be a lot of reading for a general subject, academics seemed to want more information to be made directly available to students. For the more scientific areas, there was a requirement for more precision. There was less reading required around a subject. This meant that the references listed on a course page might be far less. The librarians who did provide links did not see deep linking as negating the need for students to search; they saw it as an assist to the academic to communicate necessary information, but that this was only a start. In conjunction with the academic sessions could be held for the students in which search techniques were imparted for their assignments, at point of need.

When starting out as a liaison librarian it was viewed that being able to create targeted course web pages for academics was to be encouraged, as it instigated a level of collaboration on the resources for the page and academics were usually very pleased with the results. However, although the creation of course resource pages was acknowledged as a good way of marketing themselves to the academic department when the librarian was new, some librarians were cautious about how widely the service should be offered. In particular, several commented that the creation of course pages on the internet or intranet was very time intensive, each page taking considerable effort to produce. This could sometimes vary with the capabilities of the librarian to produce such pages. The librarians perceived that the academics were not at all aware of the level of work that

could be involved in drawing up such pages. This could be especially true where the page involved deep linking to resources. There were concerns among the liaison librarians that advertising the ability of to create course pages had the potential to be too successful in reaching academics. That is, some were concerned that they could be overwhelmed with requests to create such pages. Some librarians had been heavily involved in such activity. While the interaction with academics and the perceived value of the pages was good, the problem of devoting time to the activity had a flow-on effect to other areas of the librarians work. Time spent on creating course web pages was time not spent on arranging teaching sessions.

Once a course page had been constructed, there might be other difficulties. If a librarian had many web pages for courses it could become quite difficult to be able to update the pages. If a librarian inherited a course page from a predecessor, it could be even more problematic. The librarian might not be aware of the identity of the academic who had been the initial contact as the academic's name could be absent from the page itself. For courses where multiple academics might take turns at teaching part of the paper, changes in personnel were not always communicated to the librarian. An academic new to teaching a particular section of a course, who might only be a temporary member of staff, might not realize that a course web page existed for the paper overall, and not contribute updated readings. Or, if they were made aware of the page, it may be low on the priorities of a temporary lecturer, as encountered by one librarian. Two of the twelve librarians reported that on a few occasions if they tried to update a course page, they discovered then that for various reasons the course was not being taught that calendar year, or it

might have been discontinued altogether for an unspecified length of time. This latter situation had been encountered by one librarian who had put significant work over time with the academic to develop the page. They saw it as quite unfortunate that the course web page was no longer going to be used despite the effort that had been contributed by the academic and the librarian. If a librarian was beginning with course web pages and had only one developed as a showcase for a department, they were more dependent on the academic's continued support for the page. If a change in academic meant that a course page was not seen as important then the page would be taken down and the liaison librarian might have no course pages at all to use as a marketing tool, which had happened in the past when the idea of course pages was very new.

Only one librarian of the twelve was not enthusiastic about course web pages. They acknowledged that such pages could have a place in academic departments, but that this was dependent on the needs of the department and the skills that academics expected their students to possess. They believed that for a volume of information to be delivered course web pages were a good idea, but not if the intent of the academic was that students be educated in searching for resources at the outset. For these academics, course web pages were unsuitable. The librarian perceived that academics needed research techniques to be instilled in their students, and they saw their duty to concentrate on imparting techniques in ways other than web pages, by the arrangement of teaching sessions.

6.4 Teaching Sessions and Information Literacy

The liaison librarians' relationship with the academic department could be built through the offer of tutorial sessions for students tied in with different courses. Ten of the twelve librarians were involved in teaching sessions for students to one degree or another. The sessions were arranged by the liaison librarian with the academics. They would liaise with the academic about content and the outcomes for students. The sessions would be reviewed at the end of the teaching year and the academic would decide on whether they had been successful, which meant their repeat the following year. In preparation for a session, four of the librarians specifically requested sample questions from the academic to use as demonstrations. It was important to the librarians that, if possible, the teaching sessions would take place in a scheduled tutorial or lecture time and that the sessions were directly related to the student assignments. The librarians saw this as essential to getting students to attend. Sessions held outside official class times were far less successful in attracting them. This could require some negotiation with the academics about the best time for the sessions.

The liaison librarians were mindful that lecture schedules could be quite tight, and for an academic to include a library session meant that they would have to give up part of their own teaching time. Three liaison librarians offered teaching sessions to students as part of the approach to new academics. They commented that it appeared easier to obtain cooperation from new arrivals, who were open to new ideas. This could be compared to the responses from many long serving academics that appeared less willing to make

accommodation for librarians by including library tutorials when they were offered. The librarians perceived that these academics were used to a set method for the courses they taught and did not wish to vary this. The librarians would not press the issue as this might receive a negative reaction.

One liaison librarian had spoken to several academics about making a short presentation at the first class for many of their courses. During these classes they would make a general introduction about the library and liaison librarian services to the students. The librarian remarked that regardless of what length of time had been agreed with the academics beforehand – usually fifteen to twenty minutes – the librarian inevitably ended up with a much shorter time or none at all, as the first class was often taken up with administration. The same librarian had more success in the organizing of hands-on teaching sessions for assignments to take place during scheduled tutorial hours later in the courses, although these were voluntary. One year, for one course, student attendance was taken. The academic later made a comparison of the marks of students who had attended the librarian's tutorials with those who had not. The outcome was that tutorial attendance and assignment marks had a positive correlation. The next time the course was taught the academic and librarian used this result as a form of marketing to encourage attendance. Three of the librarians were involved in teaching or lecturing students during the lecture hours. The librarians were introduced by the academic. This was seen as important as the academic was seen by the students as giving official sanction to the librarian.

The particular success of four librarians in organizing teaching sessions as part of courses could be measured in papers where the academic allocated course marks to the library components. For one librarian based in a centralized library this had been come about as a result of an informal conversation with an academic during a departmental visit. The librarian had suggested the tutorial, but it was the academic who suggested an allocation of marks. For the other librarians to have specific marks allocated, this had occurred with librarians based in decentralized libraries. It had come about as a gradual development over a period of time, and specifically where the liaison librarians had become well known to the academic staff. Two commented that the relationship had to be built and trust established to a point where the academic was comfortable with permitting marks to be awarded for library work.

Five liaison librarians commented on the time involved in offering teaching sessions. If the offer of a library tutorial or lecture was taken up by academics that had an impact on the liaison librarians time commitments for the other duties of their position. If classes were large and the teaching was to be hands-on, with students at computers, then the class might have to be broken into smaller groups. For the librarian this meant essentially the same teaching session might have to undertaken several times for the one paper. If this circumstance was repeated across a number of classes then the liaison librarian might spend a considerable proportion of the time teaching. One librarian noted that the most time consuming part of offering teaching sessions was the preparation beforehand. They considered that for a one hour tutorial the actual teaching part was 20% of the time commitment, 80% being on preparation, drafting a script or notes, liaising with the

academic for possible examples, preparing examples, making a hand-out, and rehearsing delivery. Three liaison librarians remarked that if their sessions involved a library component, then the librarian was usually involved in marking that component, also a time commitment. The willingness to employ this technique to liaise had to be tempered with what the librarian could actually accomplish in a timely fashion. Librarians based in centralized and decentralized libraries had other demands on their time. This might mean involvement in committees, or assisting with other library service points. As remarked upon with the construction of course pages, the librarians saw a danger in offering a service that could not be delivered upon as worse than not offering the service at all.

An emerging trend in teaching sessions is an intention to contribute towards the inclusion of information literacy in academic courses through the librarian's involvement. There is not space here to go into information literacy in any particular depth but some comment may be made. Three librarians remarked that the driver for library involvement in instilling aspects of information literacy seemed to have originated with library management. The librarians perceived this as a weakness. By this they meant that for the library to have impact in this area, the governing body of the academic institution needed to give its support and give a directive to academic departments that they involve the library. They said that it needed to be a "top down" process from above and not independently from the librarians. Until such a directive was given, the librarians believed little headway would be made on the topic. The librarians believed that the academics would only involve librarians if the governing body told them to. One believed

that to involve the librarian in information literacy meant that the academic would have to relinquish their control over teaching.

For three of the four librarians that had been successful in getting marks allocated for library components in teaching, this was an independent development over a period of time. In only one incidence was it a result of the liaison librarian raising the prospect of involving a component as part of library management's drive toward librarian involvement in information literacy. The efforts of the other three librarians were independent of this trend. They had encountered specific cases in certain disciplines, the result of a particular circumstance in a relationship. For three of the four librarians, the academic retained the final determination over whether the library component was involved in their courses at all. For seven of the twelve librarians this allocation of marks for library work had not occurred. It may be noted that one or two librarians thought that generic library tutorials mostly involved mechanics of how to use a resource, and could not be offered as proof of library involvement in information literacy as they tended to miss out why a resource should be used. One librarian acknowledged the need for students to become information literate, but considered use of the term itself to be just a current trend. They had doubts that some parts of the library system had any concrete meaning attached to the phrase.

6.5 Departmental Visits

The personal visit of the liaison librarian to their academic department was perceived to

be an essential part of the role for many librarians. Several of the interviewees stressed that when they started in their position one of the most important parts of the job for them was to physically visit their academic department. The primary reason for visits at that time was so that academics could become aware of who the librarian was and become accustomed to their presence. To gain acceptance with their academics two librarians emphasized that it was crucial that they be perceived by the academics as part of the department. The librarians believed that their presence in the department needed to be considered commonplace by the academics, not an aberration. Going to morning tea and having their lunch in the academic department's tea room was seen as one way for the librarian to cultivate this perception that they were part of the department, that they "belonged". If a librarian gained acceptance in this way liaison could be undertaken much more effectively. The librarians saw the need to put themselves in front of the academics, especially when they were starting out, so the academics could recognize them and remember them if questions arose.

To assist with this liaison librarians tried to include themselves in multiple social events to do with the department early on, to achieve the effect of, in a sense, becoming embedded with their academic departments. For several librarians this involved attendance at public lectures hosted by the department. The librarians perceived that their presence at these events was important in two ways. Firstly, the librarian was seen by the academics as showing an interest in the discipline that they had been tasked to look after. This might be especially true if the lecture was outside normal working hours, as this showed the librarian may have made a particular effort to attend. Secondly, it provided an

opportunity for the liaison librarian to engage in networking with their academics, speaking to them before or after the lecture. After some time in their position, once they considered themselves established with the academics, three librarians felt that there was less need for them to visit the academic department to quite the same degree. However, this did not mean they did not visit at all, but that they hoped they had done so enough times that if they did visit it would not be considered by the academics to be out of the ordinary. One librarian commented that a particular academic had been important in arranging social events in a department. Once the academic had left there were far fewer events organized, so fewer opportunities for the librarian to attend.

Five of the twelve librarians commented that in the same way that an email to the academic department would prompt replies completely unrelated to the initial subject of the email, a visit to the department could attract even more queries. The physical presence of the librarian seemed to do much to remind academics about issues they wished to raise. Informal interaction in this way was experienced by all the liaison librarians interviewed, and was deemed one of the most important areas of liaison. At the same time, at least one librarian used the opportunity to follow up email correspondence with academics if they saw them in person.

For three librarians, there was a need to set aside specific times to visit the academic department. These liaison librarians were primarily based in a centralized library. Two of the librarians who had set times to visit the department had initially arranged a room in the department for the time of their visits. Both librarians had abandoned the rooms in

favour of the staff tea room. One librarian scheduled their visit for the time when many academics tended to take a tea break. They remarked that academics would only occasionally visit the designated room for specific queries. However, when the librarian changed their location to the tea room, their presence prompted many more academics to ask questions. The librarian remarked that the academics seemed to not consider a query pressing enough to make a special visit to the designated room, but did ask if they happened to see the librarian in the tea room.

The librarian in the centralized library could at times be some considerable distance from the academic department they liaised with. Even for decentralized libraries, a librarian might have responsibilities for more than one department, one which could be close by but another that could be far. Here location mattered. A librarian situated near to their department could visit easily taking only a short period of time to do so. One librarian based in a centralized remarked on the issue of time involved in visiting a department. Going to the academic department involved some travel, and the liaison librarian considered that visiting might not achieve much in the way of interaction if academics were busy with other matters. They weighed the time spent on a visit against the benefit of doing so if they received no queries. Location could have an effect on service if an academic emailed or phoned a librarian for urgent assistance. Two librarians felt that often it was best to see academics in the academic's office. The academic was often more comfortable in their own surroundings, and if the question pertained to library software issues, it was considered more appropriate often to see the problem at the academic's workstation. In doing so the liaison librarians saw they could deliver a more personal

service. While this could be accomplished relatively easily if the librarian was based near the academic, it could become more awkward if some considerable travel was involved.

At the same time that location could provide a barrier to physical visits by librarians, the increasing availability of electronic materials meant that academics could access more and more material from their office without the need to visit the library in person. Liaison librarians perceived this development to have been embraced by the majority of academics. For four librarians it emphasized the need to enhance different areas of service delivery. Three of the librarians had encounters with academics that seemed to wonder about the need for physical libraries or even librarians as everything they needed was increasingly online. At the same time the liaison librarians were finding that although more resources were electronic there was a role to inform the academics about online and also print resources that had a particular relevance to them. Two librarians noted that for their subject areas not everything was available online. They remarked that some new, young academics seemed to be unaware of print resources that might be the only coverage of certain areas.

Although the electronic availability of journals and databases had led to fewer visits by academics to a physical library, there were opportunities for liaison librarians to interact when online material suddenly became inaccessible. Two librarians remarked that the only time they were contacted by certain academics was when resources would no longer work. One librarian commented that it did not take very long at all for an academic to email or phone if a database would no longer work, or an online journal denied them

access. This inadvertently led to liaison as the librarians worked to correct the problems by contacting those in charge of electronic resources then contacted the academics when the resource was restored. It might be noted that the contact with the liaison librarian at these times demonstrated that the librarian had been effective in maintaining a relationship with the department, becoming the first contact when library issues arose. Liaison librarians had found that an appeal to an academic's professional ego was very effective in obtaining their interest. Two librarians in one discipline followed a team policy of meeting their academic staff at least once a year. To prepare for the meeting the liaison librarians found library material that would be of interest to individual academics, such as the number of citations for their publications. One remarked that one academic had shown little interest in library material at all had some level of interest when their publications were discussed. They noted that a lack of interest in library material by academics tended to happen where the academics were engaged in research in highly theoretical subjects where there might not be much material on their area. For a few of the librarians the introduction of Performance Based Research Funding provided at least some initial interaction with academics to assist in the preparation of Evidence Portfolios. Three liaison librarians were contacted by academics curious about journal impact factors and how to locate these. Two librarians had assisted academics in the location of material for Portfolios. However, this activity was tied to the funding round. The librarians commented that after some initial contact concerning PBRF and impact factors the academics had not spoken to them again about it.

Four librarians remarked on the need to have good relationships with the heads of the

academic departments which could be developed through visits. One librarian who was given a new for a department had a casual conversation with the head of department at a social event who then referred a graduate student to the librarian. The librarian perceived that this interaction had been instrumental for the head who gave support to the librarian's later initiatives. Two librarians had annual meetings with the heads of department to discuss library matters. They believed that this helped keep library matters in the mindset of the heads of departments. Librarians also submitted an annual report to the head of department, detailing activities over the previous year and possibilities for future actions. This could be used to showcase their work to the head of department, although two of the librarians noted that the annual report did not seem to obtain much of a response. This might relate to how far the report might be circulated or whether it stopped with the head of department and went no further.

6.6 Interaction with Administrative Personnel

Part of the visit to the academic department for four of the librarians was to keep in touch with the department's administrative personnel. Although these people were usually non-academic staff, they were viewed as key to maintaining the liaison relationship. They were often the people responsible for 59 organizing social events. This meant that a librarian could cultivate a relationship with them to ensure an invitation to such events. The liaison librarians also saw a good relationship with the administrative staff had benefits in other ways. Administrative personnel could be contacted to find out if any academic staff members were on leave, and if so, who might be caretaking their courses, important if teaching sessions needed to be arranged, or course resource web pages

needed to be updated. The four liaison librarians worked in a number of ways with administrative personnel in an academic department to ensure ongoing communication. This could be particularly useful in alerting the liaison librarian to the arrival of new academic staff which permitted the librarian to begin interacting with that staff member. One librarian had an arrangement that their details were included in information packs given by the department to new academics. Two librarians had an arrangement in place, formal for one and informal for the other, in which new academics would be physically brought to the librarian.

Despite efforts to keep up communication to learn of academic staff changes, it was often the experience of some liaison librarians that the first they learned of such change was when they tried to contact an academic to update a course resource web page, or a teaching session, to discover that the academic was no longer responsible for the course. Occasionally it might be difficult for the liaison librarian to determine which academic was looking after a course, especially as this circumstance could often occur at the beginning of a term, when academics were busy preparing courses and other matters might take a librarian's attention.

Two librarians expressed some frustration with their departments concerning invitations to social events. One librarian had attended events on many occasions to begin with, but later found that they only learned of events after they had occurred. In part this seemed to them to be partly the result of a poor relationship with the departmental administration personnel. The librarian believed that the personnel tended to forget about the librarian

entirely unless the librarian prompted them, and even then there was no guarantee of invitations. The second librarian had responsibility for more than one department and noticed a strong contrast between their good relations with one administrative person, who included the librarian in invitations, and a more distant relationship with the other person, who did not include the librarian.

6.7 Library Systems and Processes:

An area of concern for liaison librarians was the perceived tendency for library systems and processes to work against the development of a relationship with their academics. Some felt that a library system could appear to be in an area of contradiction in terms of providing service to academics. On the one hand the system had processes in place which were necessary to deal with large numbers of personnel, both academics and students. However, at the same time, there had been an appointment of a liaison librarian to help meet the academics needs. The liaison librarian may move to assist academics but find they are hampered by established systems and processes. Specifically, four librarians pointed to procedures for putting material into High Demand collections, lending policies, and interloan systems. One had had experiences where academics had requested a liaison librarian to arrange certain specific functions that were not already being performed. The librarian had considered that the services requested seemed quite straightforward. To them it required only a small effort for the delivery of an enhanced personalized service. However, many of the requested services involved other parts of the library system. Generally they seemed to be at odds with some part of established library practice. To this end, the librarian's requests for such services to be approved tended to be

unsuccessful. The librarian considered this to be an "embarrassment" as they had considered the request to be quite reasonable and then had to communicate the decision on refusal to the academics. Although all twelve liaison librarians recognized the need for standardized library systems and policies for the academic institution, they thought that often the library processes were sometimes for the library's convenience over that of academics. One librarian commented on an apparent perception that because certain practices had always been followed by the library few people seemed to question whether such practices were meeting the needs of users. They believed that the unchanging nature of library systems acted against the liaison librarian role of facilitating communication and service to academics. Time and again, some librarians felt particularly constrained in what they were able to offer, and in how they were permitted to respond to requests from academics.

A particular issue encountered by four of the twelve liaison librarians was a negative reaction by academic s to the library system's insistence on form filling. Although this was required for library processing, it was perceived as being quite odious to academics with limited time. In the liaison librarians' experience academics concentrated on their teaching and on their research. The need for the academic to complete a form for one activity and another form for another activity was seen by the four librarians as a potential barrier to the development of a relationship with academic staff. Exacerbating the need for academics to fill out forms was often the infrequency with which such forms might be done. If an interloan request form was only filled out a few times in a year, two librarians perceived that their academics very soon forgot the requirements for a given

form. One librarian remarked that the introduction of a new method of populating online interloan forms with request details was difficult enough for a librarian to work out. That person commented that many aspects of libraries had the potential to make people feel "foolish" and this might be accentuated among academics who considered themselves to be extremely intelligent and who would react against forms that made them feel less so; it was the belief that academics thought that they should know how to fill interloan forms out, and that if they failed to do so they would react against the need to fill out a form in the first place.

Complicating matters is that despite practices being standardized across a library system in theory, in actuality an academic may have quite different experiences of systems between a centralized library and in a decentralized library. Such practices had also changed over time. In the past, an academic who dealt with a decentralized library might be quite used to bringing items to the liaison librarian to be added to a High Demand collection. The academic could accompany such material with vague instructions as to what the material was for, for what length of time. The academic might present an extremely short period of time in which the material was expected to be available to students. The liaison librarian was expected to see that the instructions were followed through. In the past, in decentralized libraries, they made sure that this was done. When the library system began to introduce standardized practices and specific forms for the inclusion of items in the High Demand collection, this was perceived by the liaison librarians as meaning there was less accommodation by the library. The academic could no longer simply drop material off to be processed, and certainly not with the expectation

it could be processed at very short notice. This was especially true of disciplines where their High Demand collection was included with those for several other subject areas. To some extent this relieved pressure from the liaison librarians, especially as systems became increasingly automated. However, at the same time the requirement for more involved procedures needed to be communicated to the academics.

Those liaison librarians who had experience in decentralized libraries saw this change in policy as a reduction in service to academics. They anticipated the issues that were to arise, namely the protests by some academics over the new procedures. The reaction of the librarians differed. For four liaison librarians the way to prevent a problem in relations with academics was to circumvent the issue with form filling. Four librarians had on occasion filled in the necessary High Demand collection forms themselves on behalf of academics or had a member of their support staff do so. A fifth librarian had arranged for the academic department's administrative personnel to fill in the form for their staff. In this way the librarians worked to ensure what needed doing to obtain the action was in fact done. One librarian commented that the academics had to know that when they needed material to go into High Demand collections they could trust the library system to effect the action. Otherwise the academic would lose faith in the library system. The liaison librarian considered that it was their responsibility to make sure a loss of trust did not happen.

Two liaison librarians have had to liaise with a number of adjunct academics who had been contracted to teach particular courses. Because they were often temporary staff, these academics tended to be unfamiliar with the academic institution in general, and the library processes specifically. For these staff the two liaison librarians felt compelled to involve themselves closely in arranging library processes. The librarians involved considered this to be problematic as the librarians were based in a centralized library, and encountered a compartmentalization of library services. They perceived that the same processes in a decentralized library were easier to undertake. This was supported by the experience of three of the liaison librarians based in decentralized libraries. From their remarks it was quite clear that interaction between the library staff responsible for the procedures was less compartmentalized. One librarian noted that issues with interloan forms and High Demand forms may have become more prominent in conjunction with funding issues. They perceived that if academic departments had a reduction in funding, and a corresponding reduction in research assistant staff, the academics might have to do a lot more of the form filling than they had to previously. Those academics could no longer call upon a graduate student to fulfil the necessary tasks to place material in a High Demand collection, for example, or to request an interloan item from another institution. Two librarians liaising with scientific disciplines were quite sure that for articles they wanted, academics were more likely to directly email an author for a copy of the article. The authors were generally fellow academics and often acquaintances of the staff member. One librarian said that an area of research in a subject might be so small that only a few persons were involved in the topic worldwide and it was easier for an academic to request an article directly and avoid filling in an interloan form entirely. The problem with this for the librarian is that it encouraged the academic to view the library processes as prohibitive, and to avoid interacting with the library. This in turn made attempts to build a relationship through liaising more difficult.

6.8 Political Aspects of Academic Departments and Libraries

In terms of the politics within an academic department having an effect on the liaison librarian relationship, three of the twelve librarians interviewed seemed to have direct experience of this. For one of the librarians, the politics had nothing to do with the library explicitly. However, tensions that emerged over time in one academic department lead to a reaction by some of the academics against the person of the librarian as part of a general malaise within the department. The librarian in that incidence perceived that the reaction they witnessed was not so much a personal one but was more symptomatic of the academic department's internal strife. The academics worked against themselves to a degree and anyone else it seemed who had interaction with the department. It might be that the librarian, who did not have any particular influence over academic tenure, could be considered a relatively easy target.

A second librarian had a different experience of the politics of their academic department. They considered their relationship with the academics to be very close. However, they worked to maintain a balance between their role and the department, a role that had changed over time. At the inception of their position the liaison librarian was extremely strong about cultivating relationships with the department. However, at the same time they were very aware of the management of such relationships in terms of the politics among the academics they interacted with. They emphasized the importance of the librarian to avoid becoming embroiled in problems between academics. A certain situation of neutrality had to be maintained, without the liaison librarian seeming to

favour one academic over another. To do so, they thought, compromised their ability to perform their function, if they became alienated from one or more academics. Instead the aim was to retain the possibility of being able to interact with any academic, without any presupposition that they liked one more than another.

The third librarian encountered politics in relation to the funding particular electronic resources. Resources were often paid for out of one discipline's library budget. This could sometimes become a problem if a resource was found to have general application for several disciplines. If usage statistics determined that a resource was being heavily used by people from a discipline that was not contributing toward the cost, tensions could arise. Academic departments with library budgets funding a resource used by other disciplines were not necessarily interested in subsidizing the access to material by other academic departments. The general belief was that other departments should at least contribute to the cost, if not have it taken from their library budgets entirely. However, a stalemate might occur if the disciplines that were not paying for the resource communicated an unwillingness to commit their budgets towards the cost.

For all librarians there was an acknowledgement that whatever technique was better suited to their academic department, they had to be conscious of the times they should make contact with them. Typically, contact was most commonly made at the end or the beginning of the teaching year, avoiding times when academics were involved with marking but before the academics went on holiday or sabbatical. It was recognized that this would have a negative impact on liaison if a librarian approached the academic

department when they were already busy, and for liaison to succeed librarians needed to be sensitive to such considerations, that a time suitable for the librarian might not always be suitable for academics. The librarians adapted accordingly.

6.9 Conclusion

Email was a technique common to all librarians and utilized more than any other. However, use of email was carefully considered. Some librarians perceived that emails from the library were a low priority for busy academics with large numbers of email messages and could be ignored. They worked to avoid this by targeting emails to specific academics rather than sending a message to an entire academic department, or used other academics as intermediaries, at least at first until a librarian became known to the department. A separate library email newsletter was thought to suffer the same fate as the general emails, in that it could be ignored by academics and so only two librarians utilized them. Three librarians had instead worked to obtain a space in the academic department's own newsletter. They felt that academics saw this newsletter as directly relevant and library content placed there was far more likely to be read. Librarians were somewhat ambivalent about membership of an academic department email discussion list. While the liaison librarian perceived it was important to keep in contact with what might be happening in an academic department, it was also thought that it was responsible for a large volume of email (the very problem for librarians that they perceived led to academics deleting library messages). However, at the same time an email from a librarian could be very successful in prompting queries from academics on matters

unrelated to the content of the initial message. Seeing the librarians name seemed to remind the academics of the librarian's existence, in the same way the liaison librarian's physical presence during a visit the academic department prompted queries. The personal visit of the librarian to the department was perceived to be essential in building the relationship. With its continuance through the liaison librarian's term their visual presence acted to remind busy academics of their existence, and allowed social interactions to take place that could lead to more concrete forms of liaison. Librarians who had built a good relationship with administrative personnel found that this enhanced their knowledge of the academic department. The introduction of Performance Based Research Funding had not had significant long term impact on liaison activity. There was initial contact from academics with some librarians about impact factors but little since rounds had concluded.

The electronic availability of material created less need for academics to physically visit a library (and some academics seemed to occasionally question the need for a physical library at all). However, there was still a need for the liaison librarian to interact with academics, particularly if the online resources broke down. Some liaison librarians worked to develop a more personalized service to compensate.

For some librarians their efforts to liaise with academics were hindered by procedures within the library system. They recognized the need for standardized procedures, but thought that some were too prescriptive, and did not take note of the activity of academics. In their view the standardization of the system worked against the role of

liaising with academics and provided a barrier to a personalized service. The researcher gained the impression that two or three librarians perceived themselves caught in the middle between library processes and academics, attempting to work with both, but on occasion managing to satisfy neither. The liaison librarian acted as intermediary, and identified themselves as promoting the library and library policy, but also saw the necessity of occasionally circumventing the library system to offer service. They determined that someone had to fill out forms for activities to be undertaken so it might not matter too much if it was not the academic that actually filled out the form. It was more important that the action desired by the academic be undertaken.

For the liaison librarians interviewed course resource web pages and the provision of teaching sessions were among the most common forms of liaison, and could be quite popular among academics as a way of communicating information to their classes. However, there was a resulting effect on time when these were offered that led two librarians to argue for caution when committing to such activities. Librarians were enthusiastic about these techniques when they were new to the role as it proved a good introduction to liaising with academics and demonstrating what they could offer to enhance teaching. However, the impact on the librarian's time often meant that as they became more settled in their role, they might be less inclined to offer these. Having built a relationship the librarian saw the importance in sustaining it, and not over commit their time. The concern was that popularity of liaison techniques could outrun the librarians' ability to deliver on the services and that this was far worse than not offering them in the first incidence. In this the librarians adhered to the tenet of management theory that a

poor relationship was worse than none. The liaison librarian needed to make this judgment based on their experience of the academic department, to know what they should offer and when, what would work, and what would not. Another question was whether something should be offered at all, such as the librarian who perceived that course resource web pages were not suitable for all disciplines.

The limitations of the study meant that some of the research questions could be touched on only lightly. Further research is required to determine whether the conclusions drawn in this project have wider application to all librarians engaged in liaison activities. The research questions uncovered a wealth of material available for research. In particular the effect of library procedures in providing potential barriers to liaison and how librarians operated with such systems to ensure service to academic departments, is worthy of more intensive study than was possible here. The balance required by liaison librarians to know how many services can be realistically offered, and what happens to the liaison relationship when the librarian cannot offer a requested service is also deserving of further study.

7. Bibliography

- American Library Association. (2007). Guidelines for Liaison Work in Managing Collections and Services. Retrieved 4 August, 2007, from http://www.ala.org/rusaTemplate.cfm?Section=referenceguide&Template=/ContentManagement/ContentDisplay.cfm&ContentID=26942
- Armstrong, G., & Kotler, P. (2007). *Marketing: an introduction*. Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Balnaves, M., & Caputi, P. (2001). *Introduction to quantitative research methods : an investigative approach*. London: Sage Publications.
- Biddiscombe, R. (2002). Learning Support Professionals: The Changing Role of Subject Specialists in UK Academic Libraries. *Program*, *36*(4), 228-235.
- Bitner, M. J. (1995). Building Service Relationships: It's All About Promises. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 23(4), 246-251.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: a practical guide through qualitative analysis. London: Sage Publications.
- Christiansen, L., Stombler, M., & Thaxton, L. (2004). A Report on Librarian-Faculty Relations from a Sociological Perspective. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 30(2), 116-121.
- Christopher, M., Payne, A., & Ballantyne, D. (2004). *Relationship Marketing. Creating stakeholder value.* (rev. ed.). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Chu, F. T. (1997). Librarian-faculty relations in collection development. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 23(1), 15.
- Colgate, M. R., & Danaher, P. J. (2000). Implementing a Customer Relationship Strategy: The Assymetric Impact of Poor Versus Excellent Execution. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 28(3), 375-387.
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design : choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Del Bosque, D., & Chapman, K. (2007). Your place or mine? Face-to-face reference services across campus. *New Library World*, 108(5-6), 247-262.
- Donham, J., & Green, C. W. (2004). Developing a Culture of Collaboration: Librarian as Consultant. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 30(4), 314-321.

- Fontana, A., & Frey, J. H. (2000). The Interview. From Structured Questions to Negotiated Text. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed ed., pp. 645-672). Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Frank, D. G., Raschke, G. K., Wood, J., & Yang, J. Z. (2001). Information Consulting: The Key to Success in Academic Libraries. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 27(2), 90-96.
- Gephart, R. (1999, 11/14/1999). 1999 RMD Forum: Paradigms and Research Methods.

 Retrieved 21 September, 2007, from

 http://division.aomonline.org/rm/1999 RMD Forum Paradigms and Research

 Methods.htm
- Glynn, T., & Wu, C. (2003). New roles and opportunities for academic library liaisons: a survey and recommendations. *Reference Services Review*, 31(2), 122-128.
- Gronroos, C. (1997). From marketing mix to relationship marketing towards a paradigm shift in marketing. *Management Decision*, 35(4), 322-339.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1981). *Effective Evaluation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Gummesson, E. (2006). Qualitative research in management: addressing complexity, context and persona. *Management Decision*, 44(2), 167-179.
- Hardy, G., & Corrall, S. (2007). Revisiting the subject librarian: A study of English, Law and Chemistry. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 39(2), 79-91.
- Isaacson, D. (2001). Librarians who lunch: liaisons with new faculty. *College and Research Libraries News*, 62(5), 532-533.
- Izbicki, T. M. (2000). Liaison and Outreach in the Electronic Environment. *Journal of the Association for History and Computing*, 3(2). Retrieved from http://mcel.pacificu.edu/jahc/jahciii2/articles/lib/izbicki.html
- Jenkins, P. O. (2005). Faculty-librarian relationships. Oxford: Chandos Publishing.
- Kotter, W. R. (1999). Bridging the great divide: Improving relations between librarians and classroom faculty. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 25(4), 294-303.
- Krauss, S. E. (2005). Research Paradigms and Meaning Making: A Primer. *The Qualitative Report*, *10*(4), 758-770.
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2004). *Practical research: planning and design* (8th ed.). Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Prentice Hall.

- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2000). Paradigmatic Controversies, Contradictions, and Emerging Confluences. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 163-188). Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Lindstrom, J., & Shonrock, D. D. (2006). Faculty-Librarian Collaboration to Achieve Integration of Information Literacy *Reference & User Services Quarterly*, 46(1), 18-23.
- Macaluso, S. J., & Petruzzelli, B. W. (2005). The Library Liaison Toolkit: Learning to Bridge the Communication Gap. In S. B. Kraat (Ed.), *Relationships between teaching faculty and teaching librarians* (pp. 163-177). Binghampton, NY: Haworth Information Press.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis : an expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Miller, W., & Pellen, R. M. (Eds.). (2004). *Libraries Within Their Institutions: Creative Collaborations*. Binghamton, NY: Haworth Information Press.
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (2nd ed.). Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage Publications.
- Pickard, A. J. (2007). Research methods in information London: Facet.
- Pinfield, S. (2001). The changing role of subject librarians in academic libraries. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, 33(1), 32-38.
- Qobose, E. N. (2000). Subject Librarians Relations with Faculty at the University of Botswana: A Review of Liaison Activities *Journal of Southern Academic and Special Librarianship*, 1(3). Retrieved from http://southernlibrarianship.icaap.org/content/v01n03/qobose_e01.html
- Stoddart, R. A., Bryant, T. W., Baker, A. L., Lee, A., & Spencer, B. (2006). Going Boldly Beyond the Reference Desk: Practical Advice and Learning Plans for New Reference Librarians Performing Liaison Work. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 32(4), 419-427.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications.

- Sugarman, T. S., & Demetracopoulos, C. (2001). Creating a Web research guide: collaboration between liaisons, faculty and students *Reference Services Review*, 29(2), 150-157.
- Tennant, M. R., Tobin Cataldo, T., Sherwill-Navarro, P., & Jesano, R. (2006). Evaluation of a liaison librarian program: client and liaison perspectives. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, *94*(4), 402-409.
- Tobin Cataldo, T., Tennant, M. R., Sherwill-Navarro, P., & Jesano, R. (2006). Subject specialization in a liaison librarian program. *Journal of the Medical Library Association*, 94(4), 446-448.
- Tucker, J. C., & Torrence, M. (2004). Collection development for new librarians: Advice from the trenches. *Library Collections, Acquisitions, and Technical Services*, 28(4), 397-409.
- Wikstrom, C.-E., & Isomaki, H. (2007). *Human-centredness in CRM approaches: Towards a holistic perspective*. Unpublished manuscript.
- Wilson, M., & Sapsford, R. (2006). Asking questions. In R. Sapsford & V. Jupp (Eds.), *Data analysis and collection* (pp. 93-123). London: Sage Publications.
- Winner, M. C. (1998). Librarians as partners in the classroom *Reference Services Review*, 26(1), 25-29.
- Yang, Z. Y. (2000). University Faculty's Perception of a Library Liaison Program: A Case Study. *Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 26(2), 124-128.
- Zhang, W. (2001). Building partnerships in liberal arts education: library team teaching *Reference Services Review*, 29(2), 141-150.

8. Appendices

8.1 Information Sheets

8.1.1 Information Sheet for Library Managers

My name is Bevan Shortridge. I am enrolled in a Master of Library and Information Studies degree at the School of Information Management at Victoria University. For the final part of my degree I am undertaking a research project. The topic of my project is to examine the relationship of liaison librarians with academic departments. My intent is to obtain a rich description of the liaison librarian experience and to investigate what factors impact on their relationship with academics. As part of this research I would like to interview a selection of liaison librarians about their role with academic departments. I would also like to examine web pages and certain documents (such as Annual Reports to Departments) if permissible. It is my intent to examine librarians working in different locations and with different lengths of tenure. All responses will be kept confidential to me, and to my supervisor Lynley Stone, School of Information Management, Victoria University. The writing of the project will ensure that anonymity is maintained and that responses are not attributable. I would like to reserve the right to publish part, or all, of my project if applicable.

I would like to request your permission to approach the Librarians in your team to ask if they would be willing to take part in my project. The interviews may take one hour to conduct. It is my intention not to intrude into their workflow more than is absolutely necessary.

I would appreciate your consideration in this matter. I look forward to hearing from you.

Thank you.

Kind Regards, Bevan Shortridge MLIS Student

My contact details are:

Bevan Shortridge

Email: shortbbeva@student.vuw.ac.nz

Phone: (Daytime) (09) 3737599 extension 85771

Mobile: (027) 344 6082

8.1.2 Information Sheet – for Liaison Librarians

My name is Bevan Shortridge. I am enrolled in a Master of Library and Information Studies degree at the School of Information Management at Victoria University. For the final part of my degree I am undertaking a research project. The topic of my project is to examine the relationship of liaison librarians with academic departments. My intent is to obtain a rich description of the liaison librarian experience and to investigate what factors impact on their relationship with academics. As part of this research I would like to interview a selection of liaison librarians about their role with academic departments. I would also like to examine web pages and certain documents (such as Annual Reports to Departments) that you may have created or have access to, if permissible. It is my intent to examine librarians working in different locations and with different lengths of tenure. The interviews may take one hour to conduct. I appreciate that you may be very busy. It is my intention not to intrude into your workflow more than is absolutely necessary. All interview responses will be kept confidential to me, and to my supervisor Lynley Stone, School of Information Management, Victoria University. The writing of the project will ensure that anonymity is maintained and that responses are not attributable. I would like to reserve the right to publish part, or all, of my project if applicable. I would appreciate your consideration in this matter. I look forward to hearing from you.

Thank you.

Kind Regards, Bevan Shortridge MLIS Student

My contact details are:

Bevan Shortridge

Email: shortbbeva@student.vuw.ac.nz

Phone: (Daytime) (09) 3737599 extension 85771

Mobile: (027) 344 6082

8.2 Consent Form – for Liaison Librarians

Aspects of the relationship of liaison librarians with academic departments A research assignment undertaken by Bevan Shortridge, MLIS Student.

- 1. I agree to be interviewed for the purposes of the research assignment named above.
- 2. I have read the Information Sheet provided by the researcher. The purpose and nature of the interview has been explained to me.
- 3. I agree that the interview will be electronically recorded.
- 4. I understand that all responses will be confidential to the researcher and their supervisor. They will not be disclosed to anyone else.
- 5. I agree that the researcher may contact me for further clarification of my responses
- 6. I understand that the researcher may wish to publish their research findings at a later date and give my consent to that.
- 7. I understand that the research notes will be stored in a secure location for two years after the completion of the project.

Name:	
Signature:	
Signature.	
Date:	

8.3 Interview Schedule

What techniques have you specifically employed as part of the liaison relationship?

Have some methods been less successful than others? If so, why might that have been so?

Has the increasingly availability of material electronically affected the relationship?

In your experience, does the politics of an academic department impact on your relationship?

Do other parts of the library system (lending, interloans, learning services, divisional or central libraries, for example) impact on the relationship?

How would you characterise your forms of contact with academics? Do you know why a method might be preferred? Does it depend on the academic?

Does your experience of the culture of the academic department affect your method of contact?

Is contact from academics prompted by particular occurrences?

How does the physical location of your office affect your contact with the academic department?

Do you perceive your academic department to be aware of, and/or sensitive to, library timetables (for example, spending budgets)?

Does the academic timetable affect your liaison relationship?

What has been your experience of the Performance Based Research Funding? Has its introduction lead to any particular contact with academics?

Does the academic department make use of library-created course resource web pages? If so, is inception of such due to library promotion or word-of-mouth from other academics?

What opportunities have you encountered, if any, for the inclusion of library information literacy components into courses?